Public Document Pack

NORTH AND EAST PLANS PANEL
Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds on
Thursday, 24th October, 2019
at 1.30 pm

MEMBERSHIP
Councillors
D Collins
R Grahame
D Jenkins
E Nash
K Ritchie (Chair)
N Sharpe
M Midgley
T Smith
B Anderson

Agenda compiled by:
Debbie Oldham
Governance Services
Civic Hall
Tel: 0113 3788656
Produced on Recycled Paper

AGENDA

Item
No

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No
SITE VISIT LETTER

1

APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION
OF DOCUMENTS
To consider any appeals in accordance with
Procedure Rule 15.2 of the Access to Information
Rules (in the event of an Appeal the press and
public will be excluded)
(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 15.2, written
notice of an appeal must be received by the Head
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before
the meeting)

2

EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

1

To highlight reports or appendices which
officers have identified as containing exempt
information, and where officers consider that
the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in
disclosing the information, for the reasons
outlined in the report.

2

To consider whether or not to accept the
officers recommendation in respect of the
above information.

3

If so, to formally pass the following
resolution:RESOLVED – That the press and public be
excluded from the meeting during
consideration of the following parts of the
agenda designated as containing exempt
information on the grounds that it is likely, in
view of the nature of the business to be
transacted or the nature of the proceedings,
that if members of the press and public were
present there would be disclosure to them of
exempt information, as follows:-

Item
No

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No
LATE ITEMS

3

To identify items which have been admitted to the
agenda by the Chair for consideration
(The special circumstances shall be specified in
the minutes)
DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE
PECUNIARY INTERESTS

4

To disclose or draw attention to any disclosable
pecuniary interests for the purposes of Section 31
of the Localism Act 2011 and paragraphs 13-16 of
the Members’ Code of Conduct.
5

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

6

MINUTES

3-8

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 26th
September 2019.
7

Roundhay

19/03390/FU TWO STOREY EXTENSION TO
REAR AT 9 THE LAURELS GLEDHOW LEEDS
LS8 1PD

9 - 20

The report of the Chief Planning Officer set out an
application for a two storey extension to the rear at
9 The Laurels, Gledhow, Leeds, LS8 1PD.
(Report attached)
8

Moortown

19/03172/FU PART SINGLE STOREY, PART
TWO STOREY EXTENSION WITH THREE AIR
CONDITIONING UNITS TO SIDE 152
STAINBECK LANE MEANWOOD LEEDS LS7
2EA
The report of the Chief Planning Officer requests
Members consideration for part single storey, part
two storey extension with three air conditioning
units to side of 152 Stainbeck Lane, Meanwood,
Leeds, LS7 2EA.
(Report attached)

21 30

Item
No

Ward

9

Garforth and
Swillington

Item Not
Open

Page
No
19/05155/FU VARIATION OF CONDITION 1
(TEMPORARY TIME LIMIT) OF PLANNING
PERMISSION 16/03394/FU FOR THE
RETENTION OF 84 CARAVANS IN
CONNECTION WITH AN EXISTING SOFT FRUIT
FARM STURTON GRANGE FARM RIDGE ROAD
MICKLEFIELD LEEDS LS25 4DZ

The report of the Chief Planning Officer requests
consideration on variation of condition 1
(temporary time limit) of planning permission
16/03394/FU for the retention of 84 caravans in
connection with an existing soft fruit farm Sturton
Grange Farm, Ridge Road, Micklefield, Leeds
LS25 4DZ.
(Report attached)
DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING

10

The next meeting of North and East Plans Panel
will be on 28th November 2019, at 1.30pm.

2

a)
b)

Third Party Recording
Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those not present to see or hear the proceedings either as they take place (or later) and
to enable the reporting of those proceedings. A copy of the recording protocol is available from the contacts named on the front of this
agenda.
Use of Recordings by Third Parties– code of practice
a)
b)

Any published recording should be accompanied by a statement of when and where the recording was made, the context of
the discussion that took place, and a clear identification of the main speakers and their role or title.
Those making recordings must not edit the recording in a way that could lead to misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the
proceedings or comments made by attendees. In particular there should be no internal editing of published extracts;
recordings may start at any point and end at any point but the material between those points must be complete.

31 44

Planning Services
Merrion House
Merrion Centre
Leeds

To all Members of North and East
Plans Panel

Contact: David Newbury
Tel: 0113 378 7990
david.m.newbury@leeds.gov.uk
Our reference: NE Site Visits
Date: 16th October 2019

Dear Councillor
SITE VISITS – NORTH AND EAST PLANS PANEL – THURSDAY 24th October 2019
Prior to the meeting of the North and East Plans Panel on Thursday 24th October 2019 the
following site visits will take place:
Time
10.55am
11.10am 11.25am
11.35am 11.50am
12.00 (noon)

Ward
Roundhay
Moortown

Depart Civic Hall
19/03390/FU – 9 The Laurels, Gledhow – Two storey extension
to rear
19/03172/FU – 152 Stainbeck Lane, Meanwood – Extensions
and air conditioning units
Return to Civic Hall

For those Members requiring transport, a minibus will leave the Civic Hall at 10.55am.
Please notify David Newbury (Tel: 378 7990) if you wish to take advantage of this and meet
in the Ante Chamber at 10.50am. If you are making your own way to a site please let me
know and we will arrange an appropriate meeting point.
Yours sincerely

David Newbury
Group Manager

www.leeds.gov.uk

general enquiries 0113 222 4444

Page 1

®

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
NORTH AND EAST PLANS PANEL
THURSDAY, 26TH SEPTEMBER, 2019
PRESENT:

Councillor K Ritchie in the Chair
Councillors D Collins, R Grahame,
D Jenkins, E Nash, N Sharpe, M Midgley,
T Smith and J Shemilt

SITE VISITS
The site visits were attended by Councillors Ritchie, Grahame, Nash, Sharpe,
Midgley, Smith and Collins.

34

Appeals Against Refusal of Inspection of Documents
There were no appeals against refusal of inspection of documents.

35

Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public
There was no exempt information.

36

Late Items
There were no formal late items. However, supplementary information was
provided (a plan showing the proposed extension) in relation to agenda item 8
– 19/04085/FU – Single storey side and rear extension at 14 Morrit Avenue,
Halton, LS15 7EP. All Members received copies of the information prior to the
start of the meeting.

37

Declarations of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
There were no declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests. However the
following declarations of non-pecuniary interests were made:
Cllr. Midgley – explained that she was the ward Member for Methley and
Kippax and prior to becoming a Councillor she had made a representation
against the use of the land off Sandgate Terrace, Kippax. She said that she
was coming to this meeting having read the report with an open mind and
unbiased opinion, being prepared to make her decision on the application
based on the information presented in the report and to Panel.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Thursday, 24th October, 2019

Page 3

It was noted that all the Members round the table knew Cllr. Coupar, whose
spouse was the applicant for Agenda Item 8 – 19/04085/FU – Single storey
side and rear extension at 14 Morritt Avenue.

38

Apologies for Absence
An apology had been received from Cllr. B Anderson. Cllr. Shemilt attended
the meeting as his substitute.

39

Minutes
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the North and East Plans Panel held on
22nd August 2019 be approved as a correct record.

40

Matters arising
Members were advised of the following updates:
Minute 31 – 18/06186/OT Outline Application for a detached dwelling to
garden area – 9 Manor Park, Scarcroft, Leeds, LS14 3BW. The applicant has
lodged an appeal which is to be dealt with by way of written submissions by
the Planning Inspector at the Bristol Office.
Minute 32 –18/06794/FU & 18/06795/LI Community care residential
development including extensions to and change of use of listed building at
Scarcroft Lodge, Wetherby Road, Scarcroft. This has been referred to the
Secretary of State as it represents inappropriate development in the Green
Belt. A decision from the Secretary of State is awaited as to whether the
application will be called –in for determination. The Planning Officer is still in
discussion with Historic England in relation to the permanency of netting at
the cricket ground to stop ball strike.

41

19/00238/FU - CHANGE OF USE OF VACANT LAND TO ONE
GYPSY/TRAVELLER PITCH COMPRISING ONE TOURING CARAVAN,
ONE MOBILE HOME, ONE DAY ROOM AND ASSOCIATED WORKS
INCLUDING NEW HARDSTANDING AND VEHICULAR ACCESS, LAND
OFF SANDGATE TERRACE, KIPPAX LEEDS LS25 7BQ
The report of the Chief Planning Officer set out reasons for refusal on an
application for change of use of vacant land to one Gypsy/Traveller pitch
comprising of one touring caravan, one mobile home, one dayroom and
associated works including new hardstanding and vehicular access on land
off Sandgate Terrace, Kippax.
Members had attended a site visit earlier in the day. Photographs and slides
were shown throughout the presentation.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Thursday, 24th October, 2019

Page 4

The Panel noted that there were no speakers against the recommendation
and as such in line with Plans Panel Speaking Protocol no speakers for the
recommendation would be able to speak at the meeting. However, at the
Chair’s discretion, Members would be able to ask questions if necessary of
those who had attended to speak for the recommendation.
Members were advised of the following changes to the submitted report:
 Amend to refer to Kippax and Methley ward as opposed to Harewood;
 Correct reason for refusal 1 to CS Policy G6 (as amended by the Core
Strategy Selective Review 2019)
 Correct reason for refusal 2 to CS Policy T2 (as amended by the Core
Strategy Selective Review 2019)
 A revised tracking diagram has been submitted on 25th September
2019, and was with Highways Officers. The diagram seeks to address
reason for refusal 2 by widening the access to allow sufficient turning
space into the site without creating conflict with parked vehicles on the
street.
Members were requested to give consideration to the officer’s
recommendations to refuse permission. The reasons for refusal were set out
at points 1 and 2 of the submitted report.
Members were advised of the following points:
 The area is predominantly residential;
 Close proximity to a primary school;
 Kippax Neighbourhood Plan, designates this area of allotments and
application site as local green space;
 Sykes Field and Carters Field allotments are well used and there is a
waiting list for them;
 The applicant has voluntarily submitted an ownership Certificate D for
land between the road and the allotments, having undertaken the
required notification requirements for the application being submitted. It
was noted that, while nothing has been received, should another party
say that they also own the land, this would become a civil matter.
 Noted that there is a need for gypsy/ traveller sites in the area;
 The applicant has not demonstrated any special circumstances that
exist to account for the loss of green space that would a rise from the
change of use;
 The proposed dayroom would be a modest but permanent structure;
 Highways had not had a chance to fully interrogate the newly submitted
diagram in relation to widening of the access and as it stands currently
the access would be unsuitable, and Sandgate Terrace is a narrow
street.
 Officers have considered the requirements under the Public Sector
Equality Duty and all other material considerations have been taken
into account.
Responding to questions and comments from the Panel, Members were
informed of the following:
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Thursday, 24th October, 2019

Page 5
















An explanation in relation to occupancy of the allotments was provided
and it was noted that the allotments were well used and provided
plants etc. for Kippax in Bloom;
It was understood that the site had previously been left as open space
before it was sold to the applicant, following which the applicant had
tipped hardcore onto the application site;
No information was available regarding the demand for allotment space
from a national perspective. Correspondingly no report had been
received from the Castleford and District Federation for Allotments in
relation to the impact caused by loss of green space upon the
allotments;
Highways assumed that from the proposal there would only be one
touring caravan on the pitch. Their concern was not for the volume of
vehicles but for the size of the proposed vehicle and the narrowness of
Sandgate Terrace;
The updated tracking model / diagram submitted had still not
considered the ‘worst – case’ scenario as had been requested by
officers, such that concerns remained regarding the ability of a
proposed vehicle to access the site safely;
It was noted that 1,000 people had sent in objections to the proposal
and it was noted that the applicant had not provided any special
circumstances in the context of planning policies to account for the
proposed loss of greenspace;
It was noted that the Local Neighbourhood Plan had stated that this
site was designated as green space not greenbelt, however the same
tests apply in the unusual situation arising from the designation / status
within this particular Neighbourhood Plan;
The applicant had been made aware of the meeting date and of the
Plans Panel Speaking Protocol, it was not known why the applicant
had not attended;
Members were provided with information should the applicant take this
recommendation to appeal, but with confirmation that officers could not
in any way predict or envisage what decision / use of the land may
result if the matter was later determined at appeal.

Members were advised that reason 2 required a slight amendment to the
wording to clarify that concerns exist regarding highway safety matters at both
noted highway points. As such, officers suggested that the recommendation
should be to defer and delegate to the Chief Planning Officer to allow this
slight amendment to be made.
At the conclusion of discussions Cllr. Nash moved to refuse the application
and to defer and delegate to the Chief Planning Officer in relation to
amendments for reason 2. Cllr Smith seconded the recommendation. This
was then put to the vote.
RESOLVED – To refuse the application and to defer and delegate to the
Chief Planning Officer to slightly amend the wording to reason 2.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Thursday, 24th October, 2019

Page 6

42

19/04085/FU - SINGLE STOREY SIDE AND REAR EXTENSION 14
MORRITT AVENUE, HALTON, LEEDS, LS15 7EP
The report of the Chief Planning Officer set out an application for a single
storey side and rear extension at 14 Morritt Avenue, Halton, LS15 7EP.
The Panel were informed that the application had been brought to Plans
Panel for consideration as the applicant was the spouse of an Elected
Member of Leeds City Council.
Members had visited the site earlier in the day. Photographs and slides were
shown throughout the presentation,
Members were informed of the following points:
 The proposal would see the demolition of the conservatory to the rear
and the erection of a single storey extension as set out at point 2.2 of
the submitted report;
 The current scheme had been the subject of negotiations and these
were provided at point 5.1 of the submitted report;
 The originally proposed side extension had been amended to provide a
single bay window, replicating an existing feature in the same
elevation;
 No objections had been received;
 Condition 4 to be amended to refer to erection and retention of
boundary fence to prevent overlooking from the new bay window to the
side. It was noted that the fence was to be retained for the lifetime of
the development;
 Additional conditions to include:
o Details of boundary treatment to common boundary with No.16
to be submitted, approved and implemented; and
o Details of scheme of protection of vegetation to be submitted
and implemented.
Members were also advised of the following in relation to point 10.14 –
Clarification for extent of ‘larger home extension’. The applicant could have
applied for a larger home extension up to a depth of 6m. Given the depth of
this extension and the lack of any objection, a form of extension could have
been allowed as Permitted Development. In this case, it would require some
amendment to the roof (i.e. likely a flat roof), or the whole extension as
proposed being set down into the site so as not to breach the 4m height limit.
Members’ discussions included:
 The need to protect the shrubs and the trees and their roots during
construction;
 That the inclusion of a solid wall would provide more privacy for the
applicant and that of their neighbours.
Responding to questions and comments from Panel, Members were further
informed of the following:
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Thursday, 24th October, 2019

Page 7






Alongside the usual advertising regarding the application, the Planning
Officer had visited neighbours to the property who verbally expressed
that they had no objection to the proposals. In addition, no written
objections had been received;
The shrubs and trees surrounding were not such that were specifically
protected or that officers would seek to protect per se, aside from
during construction;
The importance of the surrounding shrubs and trees comes from
ensuring they remain to provide adequate screening and retention of
amenity for neighbouring properties.

RESOLVED - To grant planning permission.

43

Date and Time of Next Meeting
The next meeting of the North and East Plans Panel will be on 24th October
2019, at 1.30pm.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Thursday, 24th October, 2019

Page 8

Agenda Item 7
Originator: Jason Hammond
Tel:

0113 3781192

Report of the Chief Planning Officer
NORTH AND EAST PLANS PANEL
Date: 24th October 2019
Subject: 19/03390/FU – Two storey extension to rear at 9 The Laurels, Gledhow,
Leeds, LS8 1PD
APPLICANT

DATE VALID

TARGET DATE

Mr Tran

24th June 2019

31st October 2019

Electoral Wards Affected:

Specific Implications For:

Roundhay

Equality and Diversity
Community Cohesion

Yes

Narrowing the Gap

Ward Members consulted
(referred to in report)

RECOMMENDATION: GRANT PERMISSION subject to the following conditions:
Conditions
1. Time limit on full permission;
2. Development carried out in accordance with approved plans
3. Materials to match the existing;
4. Removal of permitted development rights for insertion of first floor side windows;
1.0

INTRODUCTION

1.1

This application is brought to Plans Panel at the request of Councillor Wenham, a
Ward Member for Roundhay Ward. Her reasons are the overbearing nature of the
extension being out of character for the street, loss of privacy for occupiers of
adjacent properties, parking, loss of light for adjacent property, sets a precedent for
further out of character two storey extensions in a small development, and The
Laurels backing on to the Gledhow Conservation Area.

1.2

The Officer Delegation Scheme sets out that a Ward Member can request that an
application in their ward be referred to the relevant Plans Panel. The scheme sets
out that “the request must set out the reason(s) for the referral based on material
planning consideration(s) and must give rise to concerns affecting more than
Page 9

neighbouring properties…” Whilst Councillor Wenham raises objections to the
impact of the development to adjacent properties, wider character and highway
safety concerns are also raised. In light of this, it is considered that the terms of the
Scheme are met and it is appropriate to refer the application to Plans Panel for
determination.
2.0

PROPOSAL

2.1

The proposal is for the erection of a two storey extension to the rear of the property.
This shall allow for a dining room on the ground floor, and enlarged bedroom on the
first floor.

2.2

The two storey extension is to project from the rear of the property by 3.50 metres,
having a length of 4.50 metres although with the ground floor extending a further
0.40 metres to the southern side. The two storey element is to have a pitched roof
with a maximum height of 6.40 metres, with eaves of 5.00 metres. The roof ridge is
to be set 1.15 metres below the main roof ridge, with matching eaves of the existing
property. The single storey element is to have a lean-to roof with a maximum height
of 2.80 metres and eaves of 2.40 metres.

2.3

Furthermore, bi-folding doors are proposed on the rear elevation to the ground floor
with two small windows on the first floor serving the bedroom. The existing kitchen
door on the southern side elevation is also proposed to be replaced with a window.
To note, matching stone and roofing tiles are proposed throughout, with stone head
and cill window detailing.

3.0

SITE AND SURROUNDINGS:

3.1

Number 9 The Laurels is a link-detached dwelling located in a cul-de-sac
residential development in Gledhow, Leeds. The property is constructed in natural
regular coursed stone, with a front facing gabled roof and a pitched attached
garage to the side. The property consists of a front driveway and small paved
garden to the front, with a larger garden to the rear. There is no boundary treatment
to the front of the property, and low walling and shrubbery to the side and taller
fencing to the rear of the rear garden.

3.2

The site is situated within a small cul-de-sac residential development of twelve
detached dwellings, constructed in the 1980s. There is strong similarity in the
design and style of the properties in the area. This predominant style is of detached
dwellings with pitched roofs, constructed in identical materials. To note, numerous
properties in the cul-de-sac benefit from single storey rear extensions.

4.0

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY:

4.1

No relevant planning history for this site.

5.0

HISTORY OF NEGOTIATIONS:

5.1

Amendments were sought in response to the strong level of initial objection to the
proposal. The height of the two storey extension was reduced by 1.15 metres, and
the rear projection reduced by 0.30 metres. The extension was also set further
away from the southern side boundary; the two storey extension set away by 1.20
metres in total, and by 0.80 metres at the ground floor. This, it is considered,
addresses concerns regarding over dominance and overbearingness,
overshadowing and dominance on the host property.
Page 10

5.2

Furthermore, the Juliette balcony was omitted from the plans to address concerns
on potential overlooking and loss of privacy.

5.3

A daylight study was also submitted with the amended drawings, in order to fully
assess the impacts on light and overshadowing of neighbouring properties.

6.0

PUBLIC/LOCAL RESPONSE:

6.1

The application was originally advertised by Neighbour Notification Letters that
were issued on 08/07/2019.

6.2

A total of 23 letters of objection were initially received, being received from 14
neighbouring properties and 2 out of locality contributors. The concerns, as
summarised, are:
− Loss of light
− Overshadowing and overdominance
− Overlooking and loss of privacy to properties to the side and rear, in particular to
the first floor Juliette balcony and window, and ground floor side window
− Overbearing
− Increase levels of noise
− Large scale of development that would dominate the area, with an increased
depth of 40%
− Impact on setting of adjacent Conservation Area
− Out of keeping in scale and design of the area, disrupting the distinctive character
of the closely grouped properties and homogeneous design
− Sets a precedent for further development
− Windows and glazing out of keeping
− Parking and highway safety concerns
− No Neighbourhood Consultation Scheme
− Principle of 10 year (now expired) Covenant to control extensions not being
respected
− Not complying with Householder Design Guide SPD
− Property is bounded by deciduous shrubs that means limited boundary treatment
in winter months
− Deep foundations would affect the garage of no. 11
− Property values in the area would decline
− Concerns on the architects used
− Concerns on the builders and associated construction works
− Sewage and drainage concerns

6.3

The application was further advertised by Neighbour Reconsultation Letters in
regards to the amended plans, issued on 27/08/2019.

6.4

A total of 22 letters of objection were received for this reconsultation period, being
received from 13 neighbouring properties and 3 out of locality contributors. The
amended comments were still in objection, reinforcing the same as the above
concerns. Additional concern was raised in regards to:
− Extension is only to be minimally different, being only marginally smaller than
previously proposed
− Roof pitch is to be different to existing
− Parking and highway issues
Page 11

− The extension being intended for use by in-laws of the applicant
6.5

These concerns shall be addressed in detail later in this report, as part of the
appraisal of the proposal.

7.0

CONSULTATIONS RESPONSES:

7.1

Leeds City Council Transport Development Services were consulted on
05/09/2019, in response to objections regarding parking and highway safety from
public consultation.

7.2

Transport Development Services responded on 26/09/2019, raising no objection to
the proposal as the extension does not generate the need for additional parking,
and the proposal does not affect current parking arrangements.

8.0

PLANNING POLICIES:

8.1

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that for
the purpose of any determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the
determination must be made in accordance with the plan, unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.

8.2

The Development Plan for Leeds currently comprises of the Core Strategy (2014),
as amended by the Core Strategy Selective Review (2019), saved policies of
theUDP (2006), the Site Allocations Plan (2019), the Natural Resources and Waste
Development Plan Document (2013) and any made Neighbourhood Plan.
Local Core Strategy (as amended by the Core Strategy Selective Review):

8.3

The Core Strategy sets out strategic level policies and vision to guide the delivery
of development investment decisions and the overall future of the district. The Core
Strategy (as amended by the CSSR) sets a revised housing requirement for the
period 2017 – 2033, amends policies on affordable housing, green space and
sustainable construction and introduces new policies on housing space standards,
accessible homes and electric vehicle charging points.
Policy P10

Seeks to ensure that new development is well designed and
respect its context.

Policy T2

Seeks to ensure new development does not harm highway safety.

Saved UDPR Policies:
8.4

Policy PG5

Seeks to ensure that development proposals resolve detailed
planning considerations, including amenity.

Policy BD6

All alterations and extensions should respect the scale, form,
detailing and materials of the original building.

Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents:
8.5

The Leeds City Council Householder Design Guide (2012) includes guidance that
informs the design and layout of new extensions, and that they should have regard
to the character of the local area and the impact on neighbouring properties.
Page 12

Policy HDG1

All alterations and extensions should respect the scale, form,
proportions, character and appearance of the main dwelling and
the locality. Particular attention should be paid to:
i)
ii)
iii)
iv)
v)

The roof form and roof line;
Window details;
Architectural features;
Boundary treatments and;
Materials.

Extensions or alterations which harm the character and
appearance of the main dwelling and the locality will be resisted.
Policy HDG2

All development proposals should protect the amenity of
neighbours. Proposals which harm the existing residential amenity
of neighbours through excessive overshadowing, over dominance
or overlooking will be strongly resisted.

National Planning Policy Framework:
8.6

The revised National Planning Policy Framework (2019) sets out the Government’s
planning policies for England and how these should be applied. It provides a
framework within which locally-prepared plans for housing and other development
can be produced. Planning law requires that applications for planning permission
be determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material
considerations indicate otherwise. The National Planning Policy Framework must
be taken into account in preparing the development plan, and is a material
consideration in planning decisions.

8.7

Chapter 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that the creation of
high quality buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and
development process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable
development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make
development acceptable to communities, and that Neighbourhood plans can play
an important role in identifying the special qualities of each area and explaining
how this should be reflected in development.

9.0

MAIN ISSUES:
•
•
•
•

Character and Appearance
Residential Amenity
Parking and Highway Safety
Other matters

10.0

APPRAISAL:

10.1

The proposal is for the erection of a two storey rear extension, having a rear
projection of 3.50 metres and length of 4.50 metres although with the ground floor
extending a further 0.40 metres to the southern side. The roof is to be pitched,
being set 1.15 metres below the main roof ridge.
Character and Appearance

10.2

The extension is to be located to the rear of the property, having little public
visibility from the highway ensuring it would not be a prominent addition in the wider
Page 13

street scene. Whilst two storey extensions are not common in the cul-de-sac, it is
considered that this would not be of harm to the character of the area given this
lack of prominence and visibility.
10.3

However, although the extension would not be impacting the character of the wider
street scene, it still has potential to harm the character of the application property.
The extension is to be set 1.15 metres below the main roof ridge, which ensures
the extension remains subservient to the main dwelling. The pitched roof form
would be in keeping with the pitched roofs in the cul-de-sac. A 3.5 metre rear
projection is proposed which is considered to be acceptable in this instance, given
the detached nature of the property, the single storey extension reducing some of
the massing of the proposal and the garden allowing for adequate space.
Therefore, it is considered that the rear extension is to be of an appropriate scale to
the application property that does not over dominate or harm the spatial character
of the area, complying with local and national policies and guidance contained
within the Householder Design Guide.

10.4

Furthermore, matching stone and roof tiles are proposed, ensuring the extension is
to be in keeping with the host property and the surrounding properties. Stone cills
are also proposed that further retains the character of the application property. It is
noted that the first floor windows are to be of a larger size than existing, although
this increase in size is marginal and would not be of harm to the visual amenity of
the area given the lack of visibility. The window detailing is also to be slightly
different, although this would be of no harm considering the variety in window
detailing in properties in the area. Sliding doors are proposed on the ground floor,
although this would also not be of any harm to the wider street scene given the lack
of visibility or prominence.

10.5

It is considered that the proposal complies with Policy P10 of the Core Strategy,
which seeks to ensure that new development is designed taking into account its
context, and it is considered that it complies with saved Policies GP5 and BD6
which seeks to ensure alterations to buildings are designed with consideration
given to both their own amenity and the amenity of their surroundings. The
proposal will also comply with Policy HDG1 of the Householder Design Guide SPD
as the scale, form and proportions of the extensions proposed pay due regard to
the character and appearance of the main dwelling and the area.
Residential Amenity

10.6

Policy GP5 of the Unitary Development Plan notes that proposals should protect
amenity and this advice is further expanded in policy HDG2 which notes that “all
development proposal should protect the amenity of neighbours. Proposals which
harm the existing residential amenity of neighbours through excessive
overshadowing, overdominance or overlooking will be strongly resisted”.
The proposal would result in additional massing to the rear of the property, and
therefore have potential to have harm on the residential amenity. The potential
impacts for each neighbouring properties are to be discussed below:

10.7

7 The Laurels:
This property is located to the north of the proposal, with the proposed extension
being located 4.40 metres from the shared boundary. The proposed extension has
potential to overshadow throughout the day, given the orientation of the properties
and the two storey nature of the property. However, the distance of 5.30 metres
from the proposal to the playroom (that is noted provides light to the dining room) of
Page 14

no. 7 ensures any overshadowing or sense of the extension being overbearing
would be very minimal. Furthermore, a daylight study has been provided which
supports this and demonstrates the proposed rear extension would not overshadow
onto any habitable windows than currently happens. The proposal also complies
with the 45° Rule to further ensure the proposal does not result in an
overshadowing or over dominating effect on habitable windows of no. 7. It is noted
that the lower end of the garden of no. 7 would be overshadowed although this
would be of no significant harm given the amount of unaffected amenity space for
this property.
Rear facing windows on the first floor are proposed, although this would not result
in any additional overlooking or loss of privacy given the windows are not directly
facing this property and would have the same level of outlook as existing. However,
the existing side kitchen door is to be replaced for a dining room that would be
orientated towards the blank wall of the single storey extension of no. 7 and would
not overlook or lead to a loss of privacy.
10.8

11 The Laurels:
This property is located to the south of the proposal, with the extension being
located 0.80 metres from the shared boundary and 4.80 metres from the side of no.
11. The proposed extension would not result in any overshadowing given the
orientation and siting of the properties within the cul-de-sac and the distance
between the properties. The extension would project close along the boundary,
although this would not be overbearing considering the blank wall of no. 11 on this
side elevation. It is noted that an overbearing and over dominating impact may
occur on to the rear windows of the garage which are not habitable windows, and
the side door although this is set within an overhanging canopy and faces toward
the garage wall.
In terms of overlooking, the extension would be bringing the property closer toward
this property. However, the first floor windows would only overlook the rear garden
of this property from an oblique angle of which is already overlooked by the rear of
properties along The Laurels and Lambert Avenue.

10.9

Properties along Lambert Avenue:
The extension would be projecting closer toward the properties along Lambert
Avenue to the rear, in particular to nos. 47 and 49. The extension would not result
in any overbearing or overshadowing impact given the distance retained between
the properties. Furthermore, the distance of 13.00 metres between the extension
and rear boundary and 27.00 metres from no. 47 and the extension are sufficient in
terms of overlooking, complying with minimum guide distances contained within the
Householder Design Guide SPD.

10.10

As such and in this regard the proposal as amended is considered to have no
significant harm on the residential amenity in terms of over dominance,
overshadowing and overlooking, and would therefore comply with Policy P10 of the
Core Strategy, saved UDP Policy GP5 and guidance contained within the
Householders Design Guide and the NPPF.
Highways

10.11

In order to be considered acceptable in terms of parking provision development
proposals must not prevent two cars parking within the curtilage of the site, or, in
circumstances where fewer spaces exist, must not reduce provision. The proposal
does not result in the increase of any bedrooms and as such does not result in the
Page 15

need for any additional parking. It is noted that the extension is to be used for extra
occupiers in the property, although this cannot be materially considered given the
number of bedrooms are to remain unchanged. Furthermore, while existing issues
within the cul-de-sac are acknowledged, applications are not required to address
existing issues and it is considered that the proposal will not materially add to on
street parking issues on the wider street. LCC Transport Development Services were
consulted which also had no objection to the proposal. Therefore, the proposal is
considered to be acceptable in terms of highway safety and parking for the area.
Other matters
10.12

A total of 45 letters of objections were received for this application. Most of these
comments have been addressed above in the appraisal, with the following also
raised that have not been addressed:
Increased levels of noise
Comment: Given the nature of the extension and its use as habitable
accommodation as with existing, the extension would not result in any significant
increase of noise levels.
Impact on setting of adjacent Conservation Area
Comment: The Roundhay Conservation Area is located to the east and west of the
The Laurels, although 9 The Laurels is not located directly adjacent to the
Conservation Area or within the 25m Conservation Area boundary. In light of the
modest scale of the proposal and the factors set out above it is considered that the
proposal would not be of any impact upon the setting of the Conservation Area.
No Neighbourhood Consultation Scheme
Comment: Although the Local Planning Authority encourages developers to engage
positively with neighbours prior to submitting an application, this is not a formal
requirement. There is a statutory requirement to publicise planning applications
which allows for formal comments to be made by neighbouring properties, which has
been complied with by sending out Neighbour Notification Letters to all adjoining
properties.
Principle of 10 year (now expired) Covenant to control extensions not being
respected
Comment: This is not a material planning consideration.
Deep foundations would affect the garage of no. 11
Comment: This is not a material planning consideration, and is a matter for Building
Control.
Property values in the area would decline
Comment: This is not a material planning consideration.
Concerns on the architects used
Comment: This is not a material planning consideration, the plans that have been
received and submitted have been validated and have enough information to inform
the decision-making process.
Concerns on the builders and associated construction works
Comment: This is not a material planning consideration and is out of planning
control.
Page 16

Sewage and drainage concerns
Comment: The extension would not increase the need of sewerage or drainage
capacity.
11.0

CONCLUSION:

11.1

In light of the above, it is considered that the design, scale and height of the
development are acceptable within the immediate context and will not harm the
character or the appearance of the area. Furthermore, it is considered the proposal
will not result in any significant harm on the residential amenity nor exacerbate or
result in unacceptable on street parking issues. As such, the proposed scheme is
considered to be compliant with the relevant policies and guidance detailed within
this report and subject to the conditions listed at the head of this report approval is
recommended.

Background Papers:
Application files: 19/03390/FU
Certificate of ownership: Certificate ‘A’ signed by the Agent

Page 17

19/03390/FU

NORTH AND EAST PLANS PANEL

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Page 18

PRODUCED BY CITY DEVELOPMENT, GIS MAPPING & DATA TEAM, LEEDS CITY COUNCIL

SCALE : 1/1250

0

10

Millimetres

NOTES

100

DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING. USE
WRITTEN DIMENSIONS ONLY.
ALL MEASUREMENTS ARE IN MILLIMETRES
UNLESS STATED OTHERWISE.

boundary line

boundary line

ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE VERIFIED ON
SITE PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT OF WORKS
AND PRIOR TO OFF-SITE MANUFACTURE
OF ELEMENTS OF CONSTRUCTION.
ALL PROPRIETARY MATERIALS TO BE
FIXED/INSTALLED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
MANUFACTURERS INSTRUCTION.
THE PROPOSALS WHICH THIS DRAWING
RELATE ARE SUBJECT TO FULL
CONSULTATION WITH APPROVAL BY THE
LOCAL AUTHORITY (PLANNING, BUILDING
REGULATIONS, HIGHWAYS ECT)

existing bradstone

existing pvc windows
existing tiled roof
11 The Laurels
Garage

existing garage door
existing bay window

Page 19

Proposed East Elevation
1 : 100

original proposed line of extension

existing tiled roof
proposed new roof
tiles to match existing
existing bradstone

proposed new rain water
goods to match existing

01

Rev.

existing bay window

Updated following LPA
comments 12.08.19.

15.08.19

Notes

Date

HT

By

proposed new roof
tiles to match existing

11 The Laurels
Garage

proposed bradstone to
match existing

PLANNING
Project

front garden

9 The Laurels

rear garden
Title

Proposed Elevations 1 of 2

Proposed North Elevation
1 : 100

Client

Date:

Channie

Drawn by

Drawing no.

HT
P101

Scale
@A3:

22.06.2019
1 : 100
Rev

01

0

10

Millimetres

NOTES

100

DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING. USE
WRITTEN DIMENSIONS ONLY.
ALL MEASUREMENTS ARE IN MILLIMETRES
UNLESS STATED OTHERWISE.
ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE VERIFIED ON
SITE PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT OF WORKS
AND PRIOR TO OFF-SITE MANUFACTURE
OF ELEMENTS OF CONSTRUCTION.
ALL PROPRIETARY MATERIALS TO BE
FIXED/INSTALLED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
MANUFACTURERS INSTRUCTION.

original proposed line of extension

existing tiled roof

proposed new roof
tiles to match existing
proposed new rain water
goods to match existing

THE PROPOSALS WHICH THIS DRAWING
RELATE ARE SUBJECT TO FULL
CONSULTATION WITH APPROVAL BY THE
LOCAL AUTHORITY (PLANNING, BUILDING
REGULATIONS, HIGHWAYS ECT)

existing bradstone

proposed bradstone to
match existing
existing kitchen door opening
adjusted to fit existing
kitchen window to be reused

existing bay window

9 The Laurels
Garage

rear garden

front garden

Proposed South Elevation
boundary line

boundary line
proposed new roof tiles to match existing

proposed new pvc window

proposed bradstone to match existing

proposed bi folding doors
11 The Laurels
Garage

original proposed line of extension

Page 20

1 : 100

existing tiled roof

01

Rev.

Updated following LPA
comments 12.08.19.

15.08.19

Notes

Date

HT

By

PLANNING
Project

9 The Laurels

Title

Proposed Elevations 2 of 2

Proposed West Elevation
1 : 100

Client

Date:

Channie

Drawn by

Drawing no.

HT
P102

Scale
@A3:

22.06.2019
1 : 100
Rev

01

Agenda Item 8
Originator- U Dadhiwala
Tel:
0113 247 8059

Report of the Chief Planning Officer
NORTH AND EAST PLANS PANEL
Date: 24th October 2019
Subject: 19/03172/FU - Part single storey, part two storey extension with three air
conditioning units to front at 152 Stainbeck Lane, Meanwood Leeds LS7 2EA
APPLICANT

DATE VALID

TARGET DATE

Mr N Mann

13th June 2019

08 August 2019

Electoral Wards Affected:

Specific Implications For:

Moortown

Equality and Diversity
Community Cohesion

Yes

Ward Members consulted
(referred to in report)

Narrowing the Gap

RECOMMENDATION: REFUSE PERMISSION for the following reason:
The proposed extension, due to its size, scale and siting close to the garden area
of No. 150 Stainbeck Lane, will result in an unacceptable impact on the amenity of
the occupants of No.150 Stainbeck Lane by way of over-dominance and
overshadowing. As such the application is contrary to policy P10 of the Core
Strategy (as amended by the Cores Strategy Selective Review, 2019), saved
Unitary Development Plan (Review 2016) Policies GP5 and BD6 and is contrary to
advice within the National Planning Policy Framework relating to matters of Good
Design and Sustainable Development.
1.0

INTRODUCTION:

1.1

The application is brought to Plans Panel at the request of Councillor Hamilton. The
Councillor writes in support of the scheme and states that the proposal will not raise
issues of noise, noting its location close to a sub-station and the main road, nor is it
considered that the extension will raise any issues of dominance. Councillor
Hamilton requested that if officers were to recommend refusal that the application be
reported to Panel for determination. The issues that the Councillor raises are
material planning considerations some of which may have a wider impact on the
Page 21

environment and accordingly it is considered appropriate, having regard to the terms
of the Officer Scheme of Delegation, to report the application to Plans Panel.
2.0

PROPOSAL

2.1

The proposal is to construct a part two storey part single storey side extension to a
first floor flat and associated ground floor A1 shop unit and for the re-positioning of a
number of air conditioning units to the front. The air conditioning units will be
enclosed by a timber screen.

2.2

The two storey extension will measure 3.5m in width and will be set below the
ridgeline of the main building. A garage is proposed to the side of the two storey
extension.

2.3

The ground floor area will be an extension to the A1 part of the unit and will be used
as storage space whilst at first floor level two bedrooms are proposed which will
connect into the existing first floor flats.

2.4

It is understood that the application requires the additional bedrooms as he has a
growing family and that the storage space for the shop and the air conditioning units
are required in connection with the retail business.

3.0

SITE AND SURROUNDINGS:

3.1

The application relates to a ground floor retail unit within a semi-detached property
positioned on a corner plot where Stainbeck Lane and Carrholm Road join. The
wider area is in the main residential in character comprising predominantly of semidetached, red brick dwellings however commercial and community uses lie in close
proximity to the west and to the south west of the site. To the rear of the site is the
garden area of No. 150 Stainbeck Road. Beyond the northern boundary is a single
storey commercial unit.

4.0

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY:

4.1

19/00811/FU- Part single storey and part two storey extension to rear; retrospective
application for three air-conditioning units to rear.
Refused for the impact on neighbours, visual amenity and noise from air conditioning
units.

4.2

18/06191/FU-Part retrospective application for air conditioning units and acoustic
wall to rear of store.
Refused for the negative impact on neighbouring residential amenity.

4.3

18/02109/FU- Retrospective application for air conditioning units to store.
Withdrawn

4.4

16/05438/FU- Retrospective application for alterations to frontage including
installation of cash machine.
Approved

4.5

16/05439/ADV- Retrospective application for illuminated signage to cash machine.
Approved
Page 22

5.0

HISTORY OF NEGOTIATIONS:

5.1

Following concerns raise by the Environmental Health with regards to noise levels
from the air conditioning units, the applicant was advised to submit noise impact
reports. The Noise Reports have been submitted and assessed by the
Environmental Health team, the assessment will be discussed further in the report.

5.2

The Highways Team also objected to the scheme on the basis of the new extension
resulted in the loss of parking areas and it was thought that the space between the
extension and the access point was insufficient to allow safe parking areas to be
created on site. The applicant was advised of the Highways concerns and after
negotiations vehicle tracking plans were submitted. These plans show that the
proposed new parking bays can be safely accessed.

6.0

PUBLIC/LOCAL RESPONSE:

6.1

Site Notice Posted 27.06.2019

6.2

Neighbour Notification letter posted 14.06.2019

6.3

Four objection letters have been submitted. The following concerns have been
raised;
o Overlooking
o The proposal conflicts with the Human Rights Acts – Persons right to peaceful
enjoyment of their possessions and respect of his or her family life
o Loss of light
o Impact on character
o Dominance
o Overdevelopment of the site
o Noise form air conditioning units causing disturbance
o Drainage issues
o The height of the building cannot be determined from the plans
o No information given concerning the scale of the plans, bin storage and timing
of the garage demolition.

6.4

As set out above Councillor Hamilton has written in support of the application. The
Councillor sets out that she has looked at the plans and cannot see a reason for
refusal and therefore the Councillor supports this application. It is noted that the fans
will be brought forward to the main road which is opposite a substation, the residents
on the main road have not objected, the extension is not considered dominant or
intruding and that the environmental request for a sound testing will be carried out.

7.0

CONSULTATIONS RESPONSES:

7.1

Highways- No objection, following the submission of additional information and
subject to conditions

Page 23

7.2

Environmental Health Team - comments that the noise for the air conditioning units
may result in noise disturbance complaints if it was occupied by persons not
associated with the retail unit.

7.3

The Environmental Health Officer also comments that the air conditioning units may
also affect occupiers of No. 42 Carrholm Road. It is assessed that the ratings levels
indicate within the Noise Report suggests that the chiller noise is likely to be audible
to the residents inside their bedrooms during the middle of the night when windows
are open. If the chillers units were on together for longer than expected then this
may well result in noise disturbance complaints. This issue has been discussed
further in the Appraisal section of the report.

8.0

PLANNING POLICIES:

8.1

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires the
application to be determined in accordance with the development plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise.
Development Plan

8.2

The Development Plan for Leeds comprises the Adopted Core Strategy (November
2014), saved policies within the Leeds Unitary Development Plan (Review 2006) and
the Natural Resources and Waste Development Plan Document (2013) and any
made neighbourhood development plan.
Adopted Core Strategy (as amended by the Core Strategy Selective Review)

8.3

The Core Strategy is the development plan for the whole of the Leeds district. The
following core strategy policies are considered most relevant:
Policy P10: Seeks to ensure that new development is well designed and respect its
context
Policy H9: Minimum Space Standards
Saved UDP policies:

8.4

Policy GP5: Seeks to ensure that development proposals resolve detailed planning
Considerations, including amenity.
Policy BD6: All alterations and extensions should respect the scale, form, detailing
and materials of the original building.
National Planning Policy (NPPF)

8.5

The National Planning Policy Framework (2019) sets out the Government’s planning
policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. It sets out the
Government’s requirements for the planning system. NPPF must be taken into
account in the preparation of local and neighbourhood plans and is a material
consideration in planning decisions.

8.6

The introduction of the NPPF has not changed the legal requirement that
applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance with the
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The policy
guidance in Annex 1 to the NPPF is that due weight should be given to relevant
policies in existing plans according to their degree of consistency with the NPPF.
The close the policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the
Page 24

weight that may be given. It is considered that the local planning policies mentioned
above are consistent with the wider aims of the NPPF.
8.7

Section 12 of the NPPF – Requires good design.

8.8

Section 6 of the NPPF states that Planning policies and decisions should help create
the conditions in which businesses can invest, expand and adapt. Significant weight
should be placed on the need to support economic growth and productivity, taking
into account both local business needs and wider opportunities for development.

8.9

The Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) provides comment on the application of
policies within the NPPF. The PPG also provides guidance in relation to the
imposition of planning conditions. It sets out that conditions should only be imposed
where they are necessary, relevant to planning and; to the development to be
permitted; enforceable, precise and; reasonable in all other respects. The
Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017 requires that for all applications determined after
October 2018 any pre-commencement conditions are agreed in advance with
applicants.

9.0

MAIN ISSUES:
•
•
•
•
•
•

10.0

Principle of development
Character and Appearance
Residential Amenity
Parking
Other matters
Public Representations

APPRAISAL:
Principle of Development

10.1

The proposal is to add a relatively small extensions to the existing ground floor A1
part of the unit and to add two bedrooms to the first floor flat. The additional floor
space created at ground level will be used as storage space. It is not considered that
the proposal would raise any policy concerns and the proposal is acceptable in
principle.
Character and Appearance

10.2

This proposal follows a refused application ref: 19/00811/FU for a two storey side
extension and proposed re-location of some air conditioning units to the front of the
property. Under this scheme the width of the side extension will be similar to that of
the previously refused scheme, but the massing has been broken up by the
proposed 0.7m setback of the two storey extension behind the front wall of the host
building and by the ridge line of the extension proposed to be set 0.3m below the
main roof. Whilst the ground level will retain an approximate 7m width.

10.3

The proposed extension is considered to have been well designed to blend in with
the original arts and craft design of the main building. The general form of the
building is not conventional in that the form reflects that this is a corner plot and thus
the footprint of the building (including the neighbouring semi No.150) follows the
curve of the junction and thus, fronts both Stainbeck Lane and Carrholm Road. It is
Page 25

considered that adding a further two storey massing to the side of the building is not
a concern as the extension will only be visible from Carrholm Road and the property
is not symmetrical in design so there is no risk of the building appearing unbalanced
within the pair of semis. Furthermore, the additional massing has been broken up by
the ridgeline of the proposed extension being set lower than the main building and
the front elevation being set slightly behind the main wall. The proposed side garage
will replace the existing garage on the site and, due to it being single storey, the
garage will not appear unduly prominent from the street.
10.4

The first floor area of the two storey extension will maintain a gap of 4.4m from the
northern boundary of the site and 12m from the neighbouring commercial property
located beyond the northern boundary No. 39 - 41 Carrholm Road. These distances
are considered adequate to ensure the works proposed do not appear as an
overdevelopment of the site and that the spatial character of the area is not harmed.

10.5

The air conditioning units at ground floor level and to the front of the proposed
extension will be screened by timber screens. It is considered that the timber panels
are adequate to effectively screen the air conditioning units and that they will not
cause harm to visual amenity. The air conditioning units screen will be a lightweight
structure that itself will be screened from the main road by the existing boundary wall
treatment and will appear in conformity with the character of the area.
Residential Amenity

10.6

The proposal will result in a significant mass of walling being constructed only 1.6m
away from the western boundary with No. 150 Stainbeck Lane. It is considered that
this mass of walling, which will stretch the entire length of the garden of No.150
Stainbeck Road, will appear over-dominant and would unreasonably overshadow the
garden area of No.150. The impact is further exacerbated by the garden area of
No.150 being set much lower than the application site and it being rather small in
size and therefore the extension including the garage will appear much more
dominant and result in one side of the garden being entirely enclosed and dominated
by the extension. The extension will also cause almost the entire garden area to be
shadowed during the afternoon hours.

10.7

It is noted that paragraph 80 of the NPPF advises that planning decisions should help
create the conditions in which businesses can invest, expand and adapt and that the
NPPF requires Local Planning Authorities to attach significant weight on the need to
support economic growth and productivity, taking into account both local business
needs. However, in this instance, it is considered that the harm the proposal will cause
to the living condition of No.150 Stainbeck Lane does not outweigh the benefits of the
proposed scheme to the Local Economy.

10.8

It is considered that the proposal will not raise overlooking issues. There are no
windows proposed that directly face neighbouring dwellings or private amenity
space. The side elevation bedroom windows will face the commercial property to the
north No. 39 - 41 Carrholm Road, and given the difference in ground levels between
the application site and No.39 and 41, with No.39 being set much lower than the
application site and the commercial property being a single storey structure, it is
considered that there will be no direct overlooking of the private areas of the
commercial building. The residential dwellings beyond the commercial unit to the
north are set a good distance away from the windows (in excess of 7.5m) so as not
to raise issues of overlooking.

10.9

The air conditioning units proposed are identical to those shown under the previous
refused scheme and these units are currently present on the site. Under this scheme
Page 26

however the air conditioning units will be re-positioned, the units are proposed to be
located to the front facing the highway and thus, away from the neighbouring
residents. Environmental Health Team comments that the noise for the air
conditioning unit may result in noise complaints from occupiers of the residential unit
associated with the retail unit if it was to be occupied by persons not associated with
the retail unit. The first floor flat is occupied by the owner of the retail unit and the
applicant would be willing to accept a condition that restricts occupation of the flat by
persons associated with the commercial unit so as long as the air conditioning units
are in place.
10.10

The Environmental Health Officer also comments that the air conditioning units may
also affect No. 42 Carrholm Road. It is assessed that the ratings levels indicate
within the Noise Report suggests that the air conditioning units are likely to be
audible to the residents inside their bedrooms during the middle of the night if
windows are open and if the chillers units were on together for longer than expected.
No.42 Carrholm Road is located some 32m away from the air condition units and is
separated with a road. It is considered that the noise issues that are identified by
Environmental Health has a number of caveats i.e. the air conditioning units are only
a concern during the night if the units are switched on for longer than is expected, if
the windows of No.42 are open and the roads a free of passing traffic. Given the
separation distance and that the noise concern over No.42 is not of an absolute
nature, it is considered that the proposal will not unreasonably harm the amenity of
occupiers of No.42 Carholm Road by way of noise sufficient for it to justify part of the
recommended reasons for refusal.

10.11

The bedrooms proposed are of a good size and meets the minimum spaces
standards contained with policy H9 of the Core Strategy.
Parking

10.12

The area of the site proposed to be built upon is currently used as parking and
contains an existing garage. A small area of the space that is used as garden will
partly be given over for the proposed new parking. Whilst the retained garden space
does not meet policy guidance, the proposal allows the occupant of the commercial
unit to have sufficient living space for his/her family whilst also working on the site.
This reduces parking requirements as the two units being occupied separately would
increase parking demands on the site.

10.13

Whilst the proposal may result the loss of parking the plans indicate that sufficient
parking spaces will be retained for the occupant of the flats. Plans have been
submitted that show the parking spaces can be safely accessed. The Highways
Officer has assessed the scheme and has raised no concerns.
Other Matters

10.14

As set out at 2.4 above it is understood that the storage space and the air
conditioning units are required in connection with the existing shop use. At
paragraph 8.8 of this report it is set out that the NPPF places significant weight on
supporting the expansion and growth of local businesses. In this case the harm that
arises from the extension on the amenities of neighbouring residents needs to be
weighed against the benefits that the scheme will offer to the business. In this case it
is considered that it should be possible to design an alternative scheme that
provides some additional storage space and can accommodate the air conditioning
units without causing undue harm to the amenities of neighbouring residents or the
wider area. However, the harm that results from the totality of the proposed
Page 27

extension is such it is considered that this outweighs the benefits that arise from the
scheme.
Public Representations
10.15

The comments made by the objector in relation to noise, overlooking,
overshadowing, dominance and visual amenity have been addressed in the report.
The scheme has been recommended for refusal for its impact on No.150 Stainbeck
Lane by way of dominance and overshadowing.

10.16

The concerns raised that the proposal conflicts with the Human Rights Acts –
Persons right to peaceful enjoyment of their possessions and respect of his or her
family life. It is considered that the proposal does not conflict with the conventions of
the Act and the proposal do not impinge on these specific rights of the objector.

10.17

Concerns have been raised that the proposal will cause drainage issues. It is
considered that the proposed extension which does not proposes any additional
properties on the site or significant areas of hard standing, will not result in drainage
issues. Drainage issues for the scheme of this type can be adequately assessed
during the Building Regulation stage of the development.

10.18

Comments have been made that the height of the building cannot be determined
from the plans. It is considered that the plans are to a sufficient scale and the height
can be determined.

10.19

The comments have been made that the scale of the plans, bin storage and timing
of the garage demolition has not been provided. The scale of the plans are
highlighted on the plans and the details of the bin storage area can be controlled via
conditions. It is considered that the timings of the demolition of the garage is not
essential as this aspect of the scheme would not require planning consent
separately should this proposal be granted consent.

11.0

CONCLUSION:

11.1

It is concluded whilst the proposal will benefit the existing business the extent of
harm caused to the amenity of the adjoining dwelling No.150, by way of
overshadowing and over-dominance, is so significant that planning permission
should be refused. As such, the proposed scheme is recommended for refusal.

Background Papers:
Application file: 19/03172/FU
Certificate of ownership: Certificate ‘A’ signed by the Agent

Page 28

19/03172/FU

NORTH AND EAST PLANS PANEL

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Page 29

PRODUCED BY CITY DEVELOPMENT, GIS MAPPING & DATA TEAM, LEEDS CITY COUNCIL

SCALE : 1/1000

Shop Bin

10

NOTE:
ALL DELIVERIES TO
BE CARRIED WITHIN
THE GARAGE

00

PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATION - CARRHOLM ROAD
SCALE 1:100

Existing garage to be demolished

Garage

PROPOSED FRONT ELEVATION - STAINBECK LANE
SCALE 1:100

00
30

Bins for
Maisonette

O

FF

LO

A

D

33
00
Existing wall to be
removed

Page 30

EXISTING
SHOP

UP

3 no. existing condensing units

PROPOSED
BEDROOM
2

Enclosure to condensing units;
diagonally fixed dark brown stained
timber removable panels.
Please see detail A

1.5 metre high
sliding gate

PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATION
SCALE 1:100
Please note these drawings are for Planning and
Building Regulation purposes only.
NOTE:
The contractor is to check and verify all building and
site dimensions, levels and sewer invert levels at
connection points before works commence.

BEDROOM

STORE

All drawings must be read with and checked against
any structural or other specialist drawings provided.
All works to comply with British Standards, Codes of
Practice, current Building Regulations and carried out
to the satisfaction of Building Inspector. All materials
to comply with the relevant British Standards

PROPOSED
BEDROOM
1

Existing steps to be
removed; 1 no. car
parking space to be
provided

D

RECTIFY FIRST FLOOR PLAN

03.09.2019

SR

C

REALLOCATING FIRST FLOOR BEDROOM WINDOW 16.08.2019

SR

B

Vehicle parking shown; note regarding deliveries
and off-loading added

16.07.2019

SS

A

Location of shop bin added; additional doors added
at ground floor to existing shop

21.05.2019

SS

DATE

BY

REVISIONS

BEDROOM

RIYAT ASSOCIATES LTD
Existing boundary
wall to be retained

Architectural Designers and Planning Consultants

PROPOSED REAR ELEVATION
SCALE 1:100

Benson House, 14 Benson Street, Leeds LS7 1BL
Telephone: 0113 2455492 Fax: 0113 2443800 E-Mail:
info@psriyat.com

New steps

Client:
Mr N. Mann

Enclosure to condensing units; diagonally fixed
dark brown stained timber removable panels.

Project
Proposed Alterations & Extension to Existing
Shop & Dwelling at
No. 152 Stainbeck Lane, Leeds, LS7 2EA
Drawing:
Proposed Plans and Elevations

PROPOSED PARTIAL SITE / GROUND FLOOR PLAN
SCALE 1:50

PROPOSED PARTIAL FIRST FLOOR PLAN
SCALE 1:50

LOUVERS DETAIL A
SCALE 1:50

Scale:

As Shown @ A1

Date

May 2018

Drawn by

SS

Drawing No.
2880/02
A B C D

© Copyright Riyat Associates Ltd

Agenda Item 9
Originator: James Bacon
Tel: (0113) 2224409
l

Report of the Chief Planning Officer
PLANS PANEL NORTH AND EAST
Date: 24th October 2019
Subject: APPLICATION 19/05155/FU Variation of condition 1 (temporary time limit) of
planning permission 16/03394/FU for the retention of 84 caravans in connection with
an existing soft fruit farm at Sturton Grange Farm, Ridge Road, Micklefield
APPLICANT
Makins

Electoral Wards Affected:

DATE VALID
19th August 2019

TARGET DATE
18th November 2019

Specific Implications For:
Equality and Diversity

Garforth & Swillington

Yes

Ward Members consulted

Community Cohesion
Narrowing the Gap

RECOMMENDATION:
DEFER AND DELEGATE approval to the Chief Planning Officer subject to referral
of the application to the Secretary of State as a Departure from the Statutory
Development Plan and should the Secretary of State decide not to call in the
application for determination.

1. Temporary 3 year permission for caravans including site restoration following expiry
2. Approval in accordance with plans
3. Removal of Agricultural Permitted Development rights (to restrict further seasonal
workers caravans being provided within the holding)
4. Caravans only to be occupied by seasonal workers employed on the applicant’s
holding
5. Landscape scheme to be retained in accordance with previously agreed details
6. Biodiversity management plan retained in accordance with previously agreed details
7. Minibus service for seasonal workers to be provided by the applicant for essential
needs
8. Surface water drainage from the caravans and the caravan site to be retained in
accordance with previously agreed details
Page 31

9. Foul water drainage from the caravans to be retained in accordance with previously
agreed details
10. Number of caravans on the site to be restricted to 84 as shown on the approved
layout plan
11. The maximum occupancy of all the caravans shall not exceed the maximum number
of seasonal workers specified in the schedule of seasonal worker requirements
submitted by the applicant
12. Colour(s) of the caravans to be stationed on the site to remain as originally
manufactured
13. Measures to manage and supervise seasonal workers to remain in accordance with
previously agreed details
1.0

INTRODUCTION:

1.1

This planning application is brought to Plans Panel (North and East) given the
planning history at the site and that Panel Members have previously determined other
similar planning applications at Sturton Grange Farm.

1.2

A temporary planning permission was most recently granted in 2016 for the retention
of these seasonal worker caravans. This application seeks to vary condition 1 of
permission Ref: 16/03394/FU to retain the caravans on site. The site is within the
Green Belt and there has been no significant change in relevant planning policy since
the time of the previous approval. Nevertheless the proposal constitutes a significant
departure from the statutory development plan and in accordance with the scheme of
delegation requires that this application must be considered by Plans Panel. Should
Plans Panel support the Officer recommendation to approve the application in
principle, it is then necessary to refer it the application to the Department of
Communities and Local Government for final consideration.

2.0

PROPOSAL:

2.1

The application seeks to retain 84 caravans for occupation by seasonal workers
employed on the existing soft fruit farm. Makins grow strawberries and blackberries
using hydroponic and table top production techniques which involve crops being
grown in narrow troughs raised on metal legs covered by Spanish style polytunnels.
The circumstances surrounding the need for the workforce accommodation on the site
are no different to those in previous applications of 2009, 2011 and 2016.

2.2

The caravan accommodation previously granted permission is restricted to house up
to 350 workers although the applicant advises that the labour requirements for this
year peaked at 325 (in June), the same as the last three years. It is during the
summer months where the labour requirements rise, with workers involved in the
picking, management and planting of the fruit crop. There is a significant drop off in
workforce numbers between the months of October to April where the workforce is
involved in the construction, dismantling and covering/ uncovering of the polytunnels
and maintenance of the equipment associated with the hydroponics and table-top
production.

2.3

The seasonal workers caravans are centrally located within the farm holding
positioned adjacent to existing agricultural buildings and remote from nearby
residential properties. The caravans are three bedroom units measuring 9.5m by 3.7m
with each caravan having its own lounge, kitchen and bathroom and are 6m apart and
arranged in lines so services and access routes (via a grasscrete type surface) are
Page 32

minimised. An underground septic tank is used for foul drainage discharges, taking
advantage of a natural dip in the topography. Extensive planting has already been
provided around the boundaries of the caravan compound.
2.4

In 2019, the government introduced the Seasonal Workers Programme, a pilot
scheme run by the Home Office whereby for 2019 and 2020, 2,500 non-EU workers
will be allowed to work in horticultural and fruit industry in the UK to essentially top-up
the seasonal labour requirements.

3.0

SITE AND SURROUNDINGS:

3.1

This application relates to land forming part of the Makins farm holding which is
situated just beyond the eastern edge of the built-up area of Garforth. The main
holding extends from the northern side of the Leeds to York railway line, towards
Ridge Road (A656) to the east and then to Aberford Road (A624) to the northwest.
Part of the holding is also located on the northern side of Ridge Road (extending
towards the motorway) but is unaffected by this application. A number of public rights
of way cross the farm holding including to the south of field 3 and a diverted route to
the eastern side of the existing caravan compound.

3.2

The application site boundary includes gently sloping land which was grassland in
appearance before the caravans were installed. The caravan compound is positioned
within a natural depression in the land with the land level rising gently beyond its
southern end. The land to the north also rises gently to the north, with the field beyond
(field 4) gently dropping down towards the A656 that runs to the north. To the east of
the caravan compound is a grassed runway (running north to south) that exists for the
private use of the applicant. To the north and east of the caravan compound are fields
containing polytunnels.

3.3

The wider farm holding has had substantial planting carried out over several years at
the roadside boundaries and between fields to provide screening for the wider site.
The holding also includes a number of substantial agricultural buildings that are
clustered to the centre of the farm holding.

3.4

The surrounding area is generally rural in character with the exception of the
residential area of Garforth to the west. A football ground (occupied by Garforth
Football Club) is also located between the residential area and the holding and
includes a substantial spectator stand. The M1 motorway is located to the north,
beyond the holding.

4.0

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY:

4.1

The application site has an extensive long planning history and the following
applications are considered to be of relevance:
16/03394/FU Retention of 84 caravans in connection with an existing soft fruit farmApproved (25/08/16).
11/05424/FU Variation of conditions 1, 2, 4, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15 and 19 of
previous approval 08/00988/FU to permit the retention of agricultural workers
caravans and polytunnels- Approved (23/07/12).
11/05410/FU 20.02ha of additional polytunnels- Approved (14/06/12).
Page 33

11/04836/FU Retrospective application for change of use of part agricultural building
to form storage and distribution (B8 use)- Approved (13/02/12).
10/05258/FU Retrospective application for detached pump house, detached water
treatment shed and irrigation tank - Approved (12/01/11).
10/01960/DAG Determination for enlargement of existing irrigation reservoir Approved (08/06/10).
10/05258/FU Retention of water pump & treatment sheds- Approved (21/01/11).
09/04902/FU Retention of 1 detached training/welfare building for seasonal
agricultural workers and 1 detached borehole shed to farm- Approved (06/01/10).
08/00988/FU Use of land for siting of seasonal workers caravans and an additional 24
ha of polytunnels to farm - Approved (18/03/09).
06/03097/FU Change of use of agricultural land for siting of 60 caravans for seasonal
agricultural workers - Refused (07/08/06) (On grounds of inappropriate development
in the Green Belt; access concerns; visually unacceptable; could adversely affect
archaeological remains; adversely affect public footpath).
33/1/05/FU Laying out of services and detached electricity sub-station to seasonal
workers caravan park (18 caravans) - Refused 11/04/06 (On grounds of noise and
disturbance from comings and goings; in appropriate development in Green Belt
resulting in harm to openness and character). Appeal allowed (18/10/06).
33/174/04/FU Use of part agricultural land as light aircraft take off/landing strip (north/
south) - Approved (04/11/08).
5.0

HISTORY OF NEGOTIATIONS:

5.1

There have been no negotiations on this current application due to the nature of the
application.

6.0

PUBLIC/LOCAL RESPONSE:

6.1

The application was advertised through 7 site notice displays as a major development
which is a departure and affects a right of way dated 4th September 2019. The
application was also advertised in the Yorkshire Evening Post on 30th August 2019.

6.2

No letters of representation have been received.

7.0

CONSULTATION RESPONSES:

7.1

Highways: No objection, subject to previous conditions being carried forward.

7.2

Architectural (Police) Liaison Officer: No comments to make.

7.3

Flood Risk Management: No objection.
Page 34

7.4

Public Rights of Way: No objection.

7.5

Transport Policy (Environmental Studies): No objection.

7.6

Neighbourhoods and Housing: No noise related/ anti-social behavior complaints in
respect of the seasonal worker caravans.

8.0

PLANNING POLICIES:

8.1

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that
applications should be determined in accordance with the development plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan for Leeds currently
comprises the Core Strategy (2014 and its Selective Review 2019), saved policies
within the Leeds Unitary Development Plan (Review 2006) and the Natural Resources
and Waste Development Plan Document (2013), the Aire Valley Leeds Area Action
Plan (2017) (AVLAAP), the Site Allocations Plan (July 2019) (SAP) and any made
Neighbourhood Plan(s) (NP). The site does not fall within the AVLAAP boundary and
the SAP does not contain policies that are relevant to this particular development. In
addition there is no made NP for this area.
Local Planning Policy
Unitary Development Plan (UDP) adopted in 2006

8.2

The UDP sets the spatial strategy for the Leeds Metropolitan district and allocates
sites within the area for specific uses. Many of the UDP policies have been
superseded by the Core Strategy, Natural Resources and Waste Local Plan, The Aire
Valley Leeds Area Action Plan and Site Allocations Plan. However there are ‘Saved
Policies’ which remain relevant for Development Management purposes. The
application site is located within Green Belt. The following saved policies are
considered to be of relevance:
GP5:
N25:
N32:
N33:
N35:
LD1:
BD5:

Seeks to resolve detailed planning considerations incl. design, access
and amenity.
Site boundaries should be designed in a positive manner.
Green Belt and the proposals map.
Controls development within the Green Belt.
Proposals which seriously conflict with protecting the best agricultural
land will not be permitted.
Seeks for landscape schemes to complement and where possible
enhance the quality of the existing environment.
Requires new buildings to give consideration to both their amenity and
that of their surroundings.

Natural Resources and Waste Local Plan (NRWLP) adopted in 2013
8.3

The NRWLP comprises of polices and allocations relating to climate change, air
quality, flood risk, minerals and waste. The following policies are considered to be
relevant:
AIR1:
WATER 7:

Major developments required to incorporate low emission
measures to mitigate impacts on air quality.
All developments are required to ensure no increase in the rate of
surface water run-off to the existing formal drainage system and
Page 35

LAND1:
LAND2:

development expected to incorporate sustainable drainage
techniques.
Supports principle of development on previously developed land
and requires submission of information regarding the status of the
site in term of contamination.
Development should conserve trees and introduce new tree
planting.

Core Strategy (CS) (as amended by the Core Strategy Selective Review, 2019)
8.4

This comprises of policies which set the strategic vision, spatial strategy and
quantities of development and strategic policies for land and development within the
Leeds Metropolitan District until 2028. The following core strategy policies are
considered to be relevant:
SP1:
SP10:
P10:
T2:

EN1:
EN2:
EN5:

Delivery of spatial development strategy.
Green Belt.
New development for buildings and spaces, and alterations to existing,
should … provide good design that is appropriate to its location, scale
and function;
New development should be located in accessible locations that are
adequately served by existing or programmed highways, by public
transport and with safe and secure access for pedestrians, cyclists and
people with impaired mobility.
Carbon Dioxide reductions for major developments
Sustainable design and construction
Seeks to manage and mitigate flood risk.

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs)
8.9

SPDs and supplementary guidance provide additional planning guidance to policies in
the adopted Local Plan. SPDs and supplementary guidance considered of relevance:
SPG22 Sustainable Urban Drainage (2004)
National Planning Policy
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, 2019)

8.10 The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these
are expected to be applied. It provides a framework within which locally-prepared
plans for housing and other development can be produced. Planning law requires that
applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance with the
development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF must
be taken into account in the preparation of local and neighbourhood plans and is a
material consideration in planning decisions. The policy guidance in Annex 1 to the
NPPF is that due weight should be given to relevant policies in existing plans
according to their degree of consistency with the NPPF. The closer the policies in the
plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given. It is
considered that the local planning policies mentioned above are consistent with the
wider aims of the NPPF.
8.11

The NPPF gives a presumption in favour of sustainable development (para. 11).
Page 36

8.12 Chapter 6 is entitled “Building a strong, competitive economy”. It sets out that
“…decisions should help create the conditions in which business can invest, expand
and adapt” (para. 80). The NPPF progresses to state that decisions enable the
sustainable growth of all types of businesses in rural areas and the development and
diversification of agricultural businesses (para. 83).
8.13 Chapter 9 covers the promotion of sustainable transport modes and achieving safe
and suitable access to sites for all users (para.108) and to refuse developments on
highway grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety or the
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe (para.109).
8.14 Chapter 12 identifies that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development
creation of high quality buildings and places is fundamental to sustainable
development (para.124).
8.15 Chapter 13 covers protecting Green Belt land and the Government attaches great
importance to Green Belts. The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent
urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open (para.133). Inappropriate
development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved
except in very special circumstances (para.143). A local planning authority should
regard the construction of new buildings as inappropriate, unless exceptions apply
(para.145).
8.16 Chapter 14 requires account be given to flood risk and that when determining
planning applications, local planning authorities should ensure that flood risk is not
increased elsewhere (para.163).
8.17 Chapter 15 states that planning policies and decisions should contribute to and
enhance the natural and local environment (para.170) and ensuring that a site is
suitable for its proposed use taking account of ground condition and any risk arising
from land instability and contamination (para.178).
9.0

MAIN ISSUES
1.
2.
3.
4.

Retention of the seasonal worker caravans in the Green Belt
Impact on visual amenity
Impact on residential amenity
Other matters

10.0 APPRAISAL
1. Retention of the seasonal worker caravans in the Green Belt
10.1 Planning permission was granted in 2009 to site seasonal workers caravans
associated with soft fruit production at Sturton Grange Farm for a three year
temporary period. These workers caravans were retained under subsequent
permissions in 2012 and 2016 for further three year periods. The circumstances
surrounding the need for the accommodation on the site are no different to those
advanced in 2009, 2012 and 2016 and there continues to be an essential need for the
accommodation of seasonal agricultural workers on site in association with duties on
Makins farm.
Page 37

10.2 The siting of the caravans, is by definition, inappropriate development in the Green
Belt. Accordingly, very special circumstances must be demonstrated which outweigh
the harm caused by allowing inappropriate development within the Green Belt if they
are to be supported. This requirement still applies even though the caravans are only
proposed to be occupied by seasonal agricultural workers.
10.3 The very special circumstances advanced by the applicant are as before in that the
caravans are needed to accommodate the workforce who are essential to the success
of the soft fruit enterprise. This horticulture enterprise remains a very labour intensive
process and there are benefits of managing a transient workforce at their place of
work, being reliable and on hand at all times affording greater control/ management by
having everyone in one central location. The workers living within the holding is
considered a sustainable option as there is no requirement to travel to work.
Moreover, the site contains an amenity building which provides for day-to-day needs
and facilities for the workforce, thereby reducing their need to walk off-site.
10.4 In 2019 the Government introduced the Seasonal Workers Programme, a pilot
scheme allowing 2,500 non-EU workers to work in UK horticultural and fruit industries
to essentially top-up the seasonal labour requirements. Demand for such workers
continues and the applicant manages the employment of predominantly European
workers who generally stay around six months. It remains the case that the worker are
employed for around 6 months in what are relatively low paid jobs, it is not generally
possible for them to find readily available and affordable accommodation on a short
term basis, near to their place of work. Therefore, it remains necessary for the farmer
to provide the accommodation in order to attract the required workers in the first place
and, in turn, to meet the labour demands of his soft fruit enterprise.
10.5 The strength of the very special circumstances advanced by the applicant were
accepted back in 2009, 2012 and 2016 and it remains the case that soft fruit
production at the holding has proved to be successful. Based on an earlier business
plan it is identified that there is a need for between 250 to 325 workers during peak
periods (between June and August) and taking account of the scale and nature of the
soft fruit enterprise this was considered to be reasonable. Planning conditions
restricting the number of caravans to be stationed on the site (84) and to limit the
maximum number of workers allowed to be employed were imposed on earlier
permissions. These restrictive conditions remain necessary and such controls are
recommended to be repeated.
10.6 In terms of the requirements for the caravans themselves, clearly the origins of the
workers is a major determining factor as if a local labour force could be found then the
caravans would not be necessary. Unfortunately, a combination of the seasonal
aspect of the work, its unskilled nature, its low pay and poor image is such that the
provision of on-site accommodation is one of the few ways farmers have been able to
secure reliable workers. Accordingly, the continued need for workers accommodation
is accepted by Officers.
10.7 It is to be noted that the permitted development rights which allow temporary seasonal
workers accommodation to be provided on the holding without planning permission
were removed under the previous permissions and this application does not seek to
alter this. Accordingly, the Local Planning Authority would have full control over the
details of any additional accommodation should it be required.
10.8 The all year round occupation of the caravans (albeit at significantly lower levels
during winter months- up to 50 between November and April) and the continued
renewal of permission for the caravans could in future be viewed as having a degree
Page 38

of permanence. It is, however, to be noted that the caravans are very much temporary
in nature and are to be occupied by workers who are generally staying in the country
for circa six months. Accordingly, the extended occupation of the caravans is not
considered to imply some degree of permanent residential occupation accrued over
time.
10.9 Notwithstanding the above, because the caravans still represent inappropriate
development within the Green Belt which is by definition harmful, it is only considered
appropriate to recommend a further temporary 3 year permission. The fast changing
nature of the farming industry is such that it is not clear if the accommodation will still
be required in the longer term. As was the case for the earlier planning permissions,
the application proposals represents a departure from the Development Plan and it
will therefore be necessary to refer this application to the Secretary of State.
10.10 In view of the above and the government’s commitment to support and promote
economic growth in agriculture through taking a positive approach to sustainable new
development it is considered that the retention of the workers caravans to support the
production of soft fruit at this site will help to reduce food miles and become less
reliant on foreign food imports.
2. Impact on visual amenity
10.11 The visual impact of the proposed seasonal workers caravans were considered
acceptable through the grant of the previous permissions which were subject to the
provision of screen planting in order to help reduce the visual impact of the proposals
which has been undertaken at the holding.
10.12 In recognition that the permanent siting of the caravans with the Green Belt
constitutes inappropriate development, the applicant carefully chose the accepted
location for the caravans back in 2009. In particular, the caravan compound
consolidates development within the holding into a central location and the caravans
are sited within a natural depression in the landscape making it less visually intrusive
within the landscape. The screening offered by the existing large scale agricultural
buildings is also noted, particularly when viewed from Garforth to the west. New
planting as agreed through landscaping related planning conditions has been
undertaken around the perimeter of the caravan site to compliment that which already
exists, having established and matured, and it is considered that this effectively acts
to mitigate the overall visual impact of the caravans within the surrounding landscape.
As with above, this situation will only improve over time as it matures and becomes
more effective.
3. Impact on residential amenity
10.13 The proposed retained seasonal workers caravans structures are positioned centrally
within the farm-holding (approximately 240-400m away from the nearest dwellings in
East Garforth). Given the presence of polytunnels within the intervening fields, the
presence of the existing agricultural buildings and established screen planting and
planting clusters coupled with the large separation distance the proposed retained
caravans are not considered to have a direct amenity impact on those Garforth
residents abutting the farm-holding boundary.
10.14 Back in 2009, the original temporary planning permission for these 84 seasonal
workers caravans was granted at Sturton Grange Farm to help alleviate some of the
problems residents were experiencing due to the close proximity of the workers
caravans to their houses. The caravans were previously being provided under
Page 39

agricultural permitted development rights and the Council had no control over the use
or siting of caravans used for seasonal agricultural workers. The application sought to
address the issues as best it could at the time and resulted in the caravans being
moved to a part of the holding where they would not cause problems.
10.15 In light of previous concerns raised about noise and disturbance a general
management and complaints reporting condition was attached to the previous
permission which allowed the Council to take up any residents’ complaints
anonymously with the applicant directly. Since the 2016 temporary permission was
granted the Council have received one complaint relating to the farm’s workforce and
this concerned noise from pickers out in the field at 4am (August 2018). This matter
was referred to Makins who advised that they had spoken to their staff about noise
and altered their on-site practices to start fruit picking from the middle of the field. A
contributory factor to the early starts was the warm weather conditions although it is to
be noted that as an established farm holding there are no planning related time
restrictions for when workers undertake their duties on site. No further complaints
from nearby residents have been reported and the Council’s antisocial behaviour
team have not received any complaints about the Makin farm’s employees during this
time. The lack of complaints received under the management and reporting condition
and the fact no formal objection letters have been received from residents is
considered significant. It should also be noted permitted development rights for
agricultural workers accommodation is to be removed by condition so a separate
application would be required in the event more caravans were required in the future.
4. Other matters
10.16 The diverted public right of way that (Sturton Grange Public Footpath No.2) runs along
to track abutting the northern boundary of the caravan compound and is not affected.
The Public Rights of Way Officer is not aware of any complaints about the public
footpath and raise no objection.
10.17 The specific details of surface water and foul water drainage have previously been
agreed and those arrangements are to be maintained through the imposition of a
planning condition.
10.18 This application seeks to retain the seasonal workers caravans granted approval in
2009, 2012 and 2016. As the proposal will not significantly alter the existing farming
practices currently employed at the site and that the farm will operate within existing
limits the proposal is not considered to have any further highways implications. The
Council’s Highways officer raises no objection.
10.19 Previous planning permissions relating to this site imposed a number of planning
conditions requiring on-going compliance from the applicant and it is necessary for
these to be repeated under this application.
11.0 CONCLUSION
11.1 The proposed development seeks to retain the seasonal workers caravans granted
temporary permission in 2009, 2012 and 2016. The very special circumstances
advanced remain, as accepted previously, that there is a continued essential need for
foreign seasonal workers on the farm-holding to undertake duties associated with the
soft fruit enterprise. The proposed retained caravans lie centrally within the holding
adjacent to existing agricultural buildings, polytunnel structures and within a
depression in the land which will continue to mitigate the overall visual impact of the
Page 40

development. Furthermore, due to the presence of extensive and continuously
maturing screen planting to the perimeter of the holding as well as to individual fields
will continue to mitigate the visual impact of the seasonal workers’ caravans.
11.2 Overall, it is considered that the proposed retention of up to 84 caravans, for a further
period of three years, for occupation by seasonal agricultural workers is, on balance,
considered to represent an acceptable departure from the development plan, subject
to the retention of conditions specified within this report. As was the case for the
previous planning permissions, it will be necessary for this application to be referred to
the Secretary of State as a departure from the Development Plan before permission
can formally issued.
Background Papers:
Application and history files.
Certificate of ownership: Signed on behalf of the applicant.

Page 41

19/05155/FU

NORTH AND EAST PLANS PANEL

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Page 42

PRODUCED BY CITY DEVELOPMENT, GIS MAPPING & DATA TEAM, LEEDS CITY COUNCIL

SCALE : 1/5000

Page 43

This page is intentionally left blank

